

Direct composite resin fillings versus amalgam fillings for

# permanent or adult posterior teeth (Review)

Rasines Alcaraz MG, Veitz-Keenan A, Sahrmann P, Schmidlin PR, Davis D, Iheozor-Ejiofor Z

Rasines Alcaraz MG, Veitz-Keenan A, Sahrmann P, Schmidlin PR, Davis D, Iheozor-Ejiofor Z. Direct composite resin fillings versus amalgam fillings for permanent or adult posterior teeth. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD005620. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005620.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR THE MAIN COMPARISON	4
BACKGROUND	6
OBJECTIVES	7
METHODS	7
RESULTS	10
Figure 1	12
Figure 2	15
DISCUSSION	17
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	18
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	19
REFERENCES	19
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	23
DATA AND ANALYSES	37
ADDITIONAL TABLES	37
WHAT'S NEW	45
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	45
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	45
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	46
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	46
INDEX TERMS	46

[Intervention Review]

# Direct composite resin fillings versus amalgam fillings for permanent or adult posterior teeth

M Graciela Rasines Alcaraz<sup>1</sup>, Analia Veitz-Keenan<sup>2</sup>, Philipp Sahrmann<sup>3</sup>, Patrick Roger Schmidlin<sup>3</sup>, Dell Davis<sup>4</sup>, Zipporah Iheozor-Ejiofor<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Argentine Dental Association (AOA), Buenos Aires, Argentina. <sup>2</sup>New York University College of Dentistry, New York, USA. <sup>3</sup>Clinic for Preventive Dentistry, Periodontology and Cariology, Center for Dental and Oral Medicine and Maxillo-Facial Surgery, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland. <sup>4</sup>Texas Medical Center Library, Houston Academy of Medicine, Houston, USA. <sup>5</sup>Cochrane Oral Health Group, School of Dentistry, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

Contact address: M Graciela Rasines Alcaraz, Argentine Dental Association (AOA), Junin 959, Buenos Aires, C1113AAC, Argentina. mgrasines@fibertel.com.ar. mgrasines@gmail.com.

**Editorial group:** Cochrane Oral Health Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 3, 2014. **Review content assessed as up-to-date:** 22 October 2013.

**Citation:** Rasines Alcaraz MG, Veitz-Keenan A, Sahrmann P, Schmidlin PR, Davis D, Iheozor-Ejiofor Z. Direct composite resin fillings versus amalgam fillings for permanent or adult posterior teeth. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD005620. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005620.pub2.

Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

# ABSTRACT

## Background

Amalgam has been the traditional material for filling cavities in posterior teeth for the last 150 years and, due to its effectiveness and cost, amalgam is still the restorative material of choice in certain parts of the world. In recent times, however, there have been concerns over the use of amalgam restorations (fillings), relating to the mercury release in the body and the environmental impact following its disposal. Resin composites have become an esthetic alternative to amalgam restorations and there has been a remarkable improvement of its mechanical properties to restore posterior teeth.

There is need to review new evidence comparing the effectiveness of both restorations.

## Objectives

To examine the effects of direct composite resin fillings versus amalgam fillings for permanent posterior teeth, primarily on restoration failure.

## Search methods

We searched the Cochrane Oral Health Group's Trials Register (to 22 October 2013), the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (*The Cochrane Library* 2013, Issue 9), MEDLINE via OVID (1946 to 22 October 2013), EMBASE via OVID (1980 to 22 October 2013), and LILACs via BIREME Virtual Health Library (1980 to 22 October 2013). We applied no restrictions on language or date of publication when searching the electronic databases. We contacted manufacturers of dental materials to obtain any unpublished studies.

## Selection criteria

Randomized controlled trials comparing dental resin composites with dental amalgams in permanent posterior teeth. We excluded studies having a follow-up period of less than three years.

## Data collection and analysis

We used standard methodological procedures expected by The Cochrane Collaboration.

## Main results

Of the 2205 retrieved references, we included seven trials (10 articles) in the systematic review. Two trials were parallel group studies involving 1645 composite restorations and 1365 amalgam restorations (921 children) in the analysis. The other five trials were splitmouth studies involving 1620 composite restorations and 570 amalgam restorations in an unclear number of children. Due to major problems with the reporting of the data for the five split-mouth trials, the primary analysis is based on the two parallel group trials. We judged all seven trials to be at high risk of bias and we analyzed 3265 composite restorations and 1935 amalgam restorations.

The parallel group trials indicated that resin restorations had a significantly higher risk of failure than amalgam restorations (risk ratio (RR) 1.89, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.52 to 2.35, P value < 0.001 (fixed-effect model) (low-quality evidence)) and increased risk of secondary caries (RR 2.14, 95% CI 1.67 to 2.74, P value < 0.001 (low-quality evidence)) but no evidence of an increased risk of restoration fracture (RR 0.87, 95% CI 0.46 to 1.64, P value = 0.66 (moderate-quality evidence)). The results from the split-mouth trials were consistent with those of the parallel group trials.

Adverse effects of dental restorations were reported in two trials. The outcomes considered were neurobehavioral function, renal function, psychosocial function, and physical development. The investigators found no difference in adverse effects between composite and amalgam restorations. However, the results should be interpreted with caution as none of the outcomes were reported in more than one trial.

#### Authors' conclusions

There is low-quality evidence to suggest that resin composites lead to higher failure rates and risk of secondary caries than amalgam restorations. This review reinforces the benefit of amalgam restorations and the results are particularly useful in parts of the world where amalgam is still the material of choice to restore posterior teeth with proximal caries. The review found insufficient evidence to support or refute any adverse effects associated with amalgam or composite restorations. However, emerging research is highlighting issues around genetic susceptibility to mercury. The decision for a global phase-down of amalgam (Minamata Convention on Mercury) will restrict the future use of amalgam.

## PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

## Tooth-colored resin fillings compared with amalgam fillings for permanent teeth at the back of the mouth

#### **Review question**

This review, carried out by the Cochrane Oral Health Group, addressed the question of how effective tooth-colored (composite resin) fillings are compared with conventional amalgam fillings when placed directly into cavities in permanent teeth in the back of the mouth.

#### Background

There is controversy over the best materials to use when restoring or filling holes caused by tooth decay in permanent teeth at the back of the mouth. Amalgam fillings have been successfully used for over 150 years and are cost effective. However, their use has declined over recent years partly because of the way they look and because of the perceived risk of mercury that is used in them. Tooth-colored (composite resin) fillings are frequently used in the front teeth and also in permanent teeth at the back of the mouth.

#### Study characteristics

The evidence on which this review is based was up to date as of 22 October 2013. We searched scientific databases and found seven studies to include in this review comparing composite resin fillings with amalgam fillings and we included two of these studies in the main analysis. There were 3265 composite fillings and 1935 amalgam fillings but is unclear how many children these were in. The exact age of participants was also unclear in some studies; however, both children and adults with permanent teeth at the back of the mouth that required fillings were included. Study centers were located in the UK, USA, Portugal, Sweden, The Netherlands, Belgium, and Germany.

#### Key results

The main result including only two studies in 921 children suggests that amalgam fillings had lower failure rates than tooth-colored (composite resin) fillings used to fill holes caused by decay in permanent teeth at the back of the mouth. Further tooth decay (secondary caries) also occurred less frequently next to or under amalgam fillings compared with composite resin fillings. There was no evidence of a difference in the breaking of the two types of fillings.

The other five studies only reported the rate of failure of the fillings and the amount of further tooth decay occurring next to or under the fillings (secondary caries) and the results supported those of the two studies above.

The results suggest that tooth-colored (composite resin) fillings are almost twice as likely to fail compared with amalgam fillings when used for filling permanent teeth at the back of the mouth.

## Quality of the evidence

The quality of the evidence was low to moderate. Because there was an obvious difference in the color of the fillings, it was not possible to do the comparisons 'blind' so there was, therefore, a high risk of bias.

# SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR THE MAIN COMPARISON [Explanation]

# Primary and secondary outcomes for permanent or adult posterior teeth

Patient or population: people with permanent or adult posterior teeth Settings: outpatients Intervention: composite

Control: amalgam

Outcomes	Illustrative compara	ative risks* (95% CI)	Relative effect (95% Cl)	No of teeth (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)	Comments
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk				
	Amalgam	Composite				
<b>Failure rate</b> Follow-up: 5-7 years	75 per 1000	<b>142 per 1000</b> (114 to 176)	<b>RR 1.89</b> (1.52 to 2.35)	3010 (2 studies)	$\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$ low <sup>1,2</sup>	Reasons for failure include secondary caries, fracture, restoration loss
<b>Secondary caries</b> Follow-up: 5-7 years	57 per 1000	<b>122 per 1000</b> (95 to 156)	<b>RR 2.14</b> (1.67 to 2.74)	3010 (2 studies)	$\begin{array}{c} \oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc \\ \text{low}^{1,3} \end{array}$	None
<b>Fracture of restorations</b> Follow-up: 5-7 years	14 per 1000	<b>12 per 1000</b> (6 to 23)	<b>RR 0.87</b> (0.46 to 1.64)	3010 (2 studies)	$\begin{array}{c} \oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc \\ \text{low}^{1,4} \end{array}$	None
Adverse events	See comments					Data were reported for neu-

Data were reported for neurobehavioral assessment, kidney function, psychosocial function, physical development. None of these outcomes were reported in more than 1 study. Evidence was insufficient to reach conclusions

Direct composite resin fillings versus amalgam fillings for permanent or adult posterior teeth (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

4

\*The basis for the **assumed risk** (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The **corresponding risk** (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the **relative effect** of the intervention (and its 95% Cl). **CI:** confidence interval; **RR:** risk ratio.

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect. Moderate quality: Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate. Low quality: Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate. Very low quality: We are very uncertain about the estimate.

 $^1$  Performance, detection, and selection (due to allocation concealment) bias  $^2$  I  $^2$  = 87%  $^3$  I  $^2$  = 92%  $^4$  Imprecision

ы

# BACKGROUND

## **Description of the condition**

Dental caries (tooth decay) is a dynamic and continuous process composed of cycles of demineralization of the hard tissue of the teeth followed by cycles of remineralization. The balance between the two cycles determines the stage of the disease (ICDAS 2011). There is a close relationship between oral health and quality of life just as socioeconomic status and home environment have been shown to impact on people's oral condition (Gomes 2009; Paula 2012). Despite the great accomplishments obtained globally in oral health, caries is still a serious problem particularly among under-privileged groups in low, middle and high-income countries, affecting 60% to 90% of school children and the vast majority of adults (Costa 2012). It is also the most prevalent oral health problem in several Asian and Latin-American countries (WHO 2012).

Modern management of dental caries involves making a diagnosis to determine the person's caries risk status, followed by the application of intervention strategies focused on preventing, arresting, and possibly reversing the caries process to delay restorative treatment until it becomes absolutely necessary (Ferreira Zandona 2012). When the damage on the tooth structure is permanent, the most commonly used treatment involves cleaning the cavity and filling it with a restorative material to restore the shape and function of the tooth.

Primary caries seems to be the most frequent reason for the placement of restorations (fillings) and caries lesions are most commonly found on occlusal surfaces of posterior teeth (Nascimento 2010). Secondary caries is responsible for 60% of all replacement restorations in the typical dental practice but the association between the type of restoration materials and location of caries and the composition of the microflora has not been found to be statistically significant (Mo 2010).

#### **Description of the intervention**

The obturation and filling of occlusal cavities is an issue that has been long studied. The choice of the best material for restoring the anatomical structures that also achieves acceptable resistance to the forces of mastication is still controversial. This review compared dental amalgams and resin composites, the two main categories of dental restorative fillings used in posterior tooth restorations today.

Dental amalgams are metallic alloys. They have been predictable and inexpensive restorative materials for over 150 years. Their use and success rate have been well documented and they are the most cost-effective materials in posterior teeth restorations. However, they are declining in use in dentistry mainly due to their unesthetic appearance and concerns about their mercury content (Kelly 2004; Mitchell 2007; Roulet 1997).

Dental resin composites were developed in response to people's demands for tooth-colored restorations. Dental resin composites are particle-reinforced resins. The indications of resin composites have expanded from anterior teeth to restrict posterior restorations and even to stress-bearing posterior restorations as amalgam substitutes or amalgam alternatives (Lutz 1999). Other advantages of dental resin composite restorations include their conservative design and reparability.

The cost of placing dental amalgams (USD 12.40) is only slightly cheaper than the cost of placing composite fillings (USD 15.90) for a single restoration provided in one dental session. However, when the costs are considered in the long term, taking into consideration the differences in longevity of the two materials, Sjögren et al. calculated that the estimated cost over 10 years for a Class II restoration was USD 189.80 for amalgam fillings and USD 363.70 for a composite filling (CADTH 2012).

#### How the intervention might work

Dental amalgam and resin composite restorations are still the most current selection for restoring permanent molar and premolar cavities. The choice of amalgam as the preferred material to restore posterior teeth has been gradually replaced by resin composite. However, surveys and retrospective studies developed by groups of practice-based researchers differ in their conclusions about which is the material most commonly used in restorative dentistry today (Makhija 2011; Nascimento 2010).

In recent years, the field of composite dental restoratives continues to propose and achieve significant and exciting advances in resin formulation, filler loading and modification, and curing methodologies and mechanisms (Cramer 2011).

The current controversy is that amalgam restorations should be banned because of mercury toxicity. In addressing safety concerns, it is important to make the distinction between known and hypothetical risks (Rathore 2012). The truth is that a variety of potentially toxic compounds might be released from restorative dental materials (amalgam and composites) and can diffuse into the tooth pulp or gingiva reaching both saliva and circulating blood (Libonati 2011). Their adverse effects are not yet well known.

# Why it is important to do this review

While the use of dental amalgam has declined (Mitchell 2007) in some parts of the world, it is still the restorative material of choice in other parts of the world. The decline is due to concerns about its mercury release in the body and environmental impact following its disposal. To achieve a balance between the environment impact of the disposal of mercury products including amalgam and its public health benefit, the Minamata Convention on Mercury

proposes a paced phase-down by national governments according to local needs (BDA 2013; UNEP 2013). The World Health Organization (WHO) further iterates that the move from amalgam would depend on quality improvement of alternative restoration materials. Since the adhesive dentistry remains one of the fastest changing fields and will most likely continue well into the next decade (McDonald 2001), there is need to provide a comprehensive update on the effects of composite materials in comparison with amalgam.

# OBJECTIVES

To examine the effects of direct composite resin fillings versus amalgam fillings for permanent posterior teeth, primarily on restoration failure.

# METHODS

## Criteria for considering studies for this review

## **Types of studies**

All randomized controlled trials comparing dental resin composites with dental amalgams in permanent posterior teeth (dating back to 1946) were selected, including studies with parallel group or split-mouth designs. We excluded studies that had less than a three-year follow-up period.

## **Types of participants**

Adults or children with permanent posterior teeth suitable (i.e. with tooth decay) for resin composite or amalgam restorations or both.

## **Types of interventions**

- Intervention: dental resin composites.
- Control: dental amalgams.

## Types of outcome measures

#### **Primary outcomes**

#### Secondary outcomes

• Reasons for failure (according to the evaluation categories of the United States Public Health Service (USPHS), which includes color match, marginal adaptation, anatomical form, and secondary caries) and patient satisfaction. The minimum length of follow-up that was acceptable for outcomes was three years.

- Cost data (treatment time plus material costs).
- Unexpected/adverse events (as reported in included trials).

## Search methods for identification of studies

#### **Electronic searches**

For the identification of studies included in, or considered for this review, we developed detailed search strategies for each database searched. We based these on the search strategy developed for MEDLINE (OVID) but revised appropriately for each database. We searched the following electronic databases:

• the Cochrane Oral Health Group's Trials Register (to 22 October 2013) (Appendix 1);

• the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials

(CENTRAL) (The Cochrane Library 2013, Issue 9) (Appendix 2);

- MEDLINE via OVID (1946 to 22 October 2013) (Appendix 3);
- EMBASE via OVID (1980 to 22 October 2013) (Appendix 4);

• LILACS via BIREME Virtual Health Library (1980 to 22 October 2013) (Appendix 5).

#### Searching other resources

Handsearching for this review was done as part of the Cochrane worldwide handsearching program, see the Cochrane Master List for details of the journals and issues searched to date. We checked the reference lists of all eligible trials and relevant review articles for additional studies.

We contacted the authors of unpublished studies, but did not receive any replies.

We contacted the major manufacturers of dental materials (GC and 3M ESPE) in June 2012 to obtain information on published and unpublished trials/studies that may have involved their products. We were informed that no studies comparing resin composite materials and amalgam materials had been carried out. We also contacted Ivoclar Vivident, Kerr and Dentsply at the same time but they did not reply.

## Language

We placed no restrictions on language or date of publication in Failure rate (or survival rate) of the restorations. the databases searched.

## Data collection and analysis

## Selection of studies

Review authors, working independently and in duplicate, assessed the titles and abstracts resulting from the searches to identify eligible studies for this review. We obtained the full copies of possible studies and assessed them to see if they met the inclusion criteria. We directed studies on which agreement was not reached to two other review authors who also worked independently. We excluded studies until further clarification was available or if we were unable to reach a consensus. We tabulated excluded studies with reasons for exclusion (Characteristics of excluded studies table). We resolved disagreements by discussion.

#### Data extraction and management

The four review authors piloted specially designed data extraction forms on two papers and modified the forms before use. We resolved any disagreements by discussion. Two review authors extracted data independently and in duplicate from each study that was relevant to the specified outcomes, and sent the data forms to the other two review authors for comparison and verification. The features of the studies that we reported in the Characteristics of included studies table in the review were as follows:

1. methods - unit of randomization (participants or teeth), exclusions after randomization, unusual study design, practice setting;

2. participants - country and date of the trial, number randomized, main inclusion and exclusion criteria, losses to

follow-up, stratification by age, sex, tooth type (location of the restoration), surfaces of restoration (type of cavity);

3. interventions - materials used in treatment, comparison intervention (control);

4. outcomes - failure rate (or survival rate) of the resin composite or dental amalgam restorations over time (yearly beginning from three years) with failure defined as the rating of the clinical performance greater than bravo using the assessment criteria of the USPHS guidelines, reasons of failure (secondary caries), fracture of the restoration;

5. notes - additional details relevant to that particular trial (e.g. funding sources).

#### Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors undertook the assessment of risk of bias independently and in duplicate for each included study using the Cochrane 'Risk of bias' assessment tool (Higgins 2011). We assessed seven domains for each included study: sequence generation (selection bias), allocation sequence concealment (selection bias), blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias), blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias), incomplete outcome data (attrition bias), selective outcome reporting (reporting bias), and other potential sources of bias. The risk of bias was assessed as 'low risk', 'high risk', or 'unclear risk', with the last category indicating either lack of information or uncertainty over the potential for bias.

## The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias

Domain	Support for judgment	Review authors' judgment
Selection bias.		
Random sequence generation.	Describe the method used to generate the allocation sequence in sufficient detail to allow an assessment of whether it should produce comparable groups	Selection bias (biased allocation to inter- ventions) due to inadequate generation of a randomized sequence
Allocation concealment.	Describe the method used to conceal the allocation sequence in sufficient detail to determine whether intervention allocations could have been foreseen in advance of, or during, enrolment	Selection bias (biased allocation to inter- ventions) due to inadequate concealment of allocations prior to assignment
Performance bias.		
Blinding of participants and personnel Assessments should be made for each main outcome (or class of outcomes).	Describe all measures used, if any, to blind study participants and personnel from knowledge of which intervention a partici-	Performance bias due to knowledge of the allocated interventions by participants and

#### (Continued)

	pant received. Provide any information re- lating to whether the intended blinding was effective	personnel during the study	
Detection bias.			
<b>Blinding of outcome assessment</b> Assessments should be made for each main outcome (or class of outcomes).	Describe all measures used, if any, to blind outcome assessors from knowledge of which intervention a participant re- ceived. Provide any information relating to whether the intended blinding was effec- tive	Detection bias due to knowledge of the al- located interventions by outcome assessors	
Attrition bias.			
<b>Incomplete outcome data</b> Assessments should be made for each main outcome (or class of outcomes).	Describe the completeness of outcome data for each main outcome, including attri- tion and exclusions from the analysis. State whether attrition and exclusions were re- ported, the numbers in each intervention group (compared with total randomized participants), reasons for attrition/exclu- sions where reported, and any re-inclusions in analyses performed by the review authors	Attrition bias due to amount, nature, or handling of incomplete outcome data	
Reporting bias.			
Selective reporting.	State how the possibility of selective out- come reporting was examined by the review authors, and what was found	Reporting bias due to selective outcome re- porting.	
Other bias.			
Other sources of bias.	State any important concerns about bias not addressed in the other domains in the tool If particular questions/entries were pre- specified in the review's protocol, responses should be provided for each question/entry	Bias due to problems not covered elsewhere in the table.	

After taking into account the additional information provided by the authors of the trials, we grouped the studies into the following categories:

the results) if one or more domains are assessed at high risk of bias.

**Measures of treatment effect** 

1. low risk of bias (plausible bias unlikely to seriously alter the results);

- 2. unclear risk of bias if one or more of the domains are assessed as unclear;
  - 3. high risk of bias (plausible bias that weakens confidence in

For each trial, we calculated risk ratios (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) for all pre-specified, dichotomous outcomes. We

calculated mean difference (MD) or standardized mean difference (SMD) for continuous data. In the case of split-mouth design studies, we aimed to calculate log risk ratio separately for each outcome.

We aimed to extract time-to-event data from each study in our review, if possible, and to express the treatment effect as a hazard ratio using survival analysis. If necessary, outcome data would have been transformed to achieve consistency of results (e.g. calculate survival rate as dichotomous data from time-to-event data at fixed time points).

#### Unit of analysis issues

The unit of analysis was restoration. Whenever possible, we checked the included studies for unit of analysis errors and handled if considered appropriate following the advice provided in Section 16.3 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011).

## Dealing with missing data

In case of missing individual data, we analyzed only available data. We performed an intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis if possible. In some cases, we contacted study authors when there was need for more information. We addressed the potential impacts of missing data on the findings of the review in the Discussion section.

#### Assessment of heterogeneity

We assessed heterogeneity by analyzing the point estimates and CIs on the forest plots. We assessed statistical heterogeneity using The Cochrane Collaboration's test for heterogeneity and quantified using the I<sup>2</sup> statistic. According to the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Intervention*, I<sup>2</sup> values of 0% to 40% might not be important, 30% to 60% may represent moderate heterogeneity, 50% to 90% may represent substantial heterogeneity, and 75% to 100% is considerable heterogeneity (Higgins 2011). Heterogeneity was considered statistically significant if the P value was < 0.1.

### Assessment of reporting biases

Only a proportion of research projects conducted are ultimately published in an indexed journal and become easily identifiable for inclusion in systematic reviews (Easterbrook 1991). Reporting biases arise when the reporting of research findings is influenced by the nature and direction of the findings of the research. We attempted to avoid time lag bias, multiple (duplicate) publication bias, and language bias by conducting a detailed sensitive search, including searching for ongoing studies. We did not restrict the search by language and non-English studies were translated by coreview authors due to their multinationality.

## Data synthesis

We combined RRs for dichotomous data of the studies that were considered appropriate to be included in the meta-analysis. We intended to combine the treatment effects from split-mouth trials with those from parallel group trials where appropriate as outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Elbourne 2002; Higgins 2011), but it was not possible because of poor reporting. Therefore, we treated the split-mouth trials as a subgroup so that the results could be examined either in isolation or in combination with the parallel group studies. This was particularly aimed at providing a broader view and 'bottom-line' to the review question. We used random-effects models where there were more than three studies in any meta-analysis, otherwise we used fixed-effect models.

#### Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We intended to explore the following potential sources of heterogeneity using subgroup analyses:

- 1. age of participants;
- 2. location of restoration (premolar or molar);
- 3. type of cavity (class I or II; stress bearing or not);
- 4. materials used;
- 5. practice setting (university based or private practice based) and operator.

However, there was not enough data available to explore the reasons of heterogeneity.

## Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis was planned to examine the robustness of the meta-analysis but the number of included studies was inadequate.

### Presentation of main results

We have presented a 'Summary of findings' table to show the findings of the most important outcomes (Summary of findings for the main comparison). We assessed the quality of the body of evidence by following the GRADE framework with reference to the overall risk of bias of the included studies, directness of the evidence, inconsistency of the results, precision of the estimates, risk of publication bias, and magnitude of the effect. We categorized the quality of the body of evidence for each of the outcomes as high, moderate, low, or very low.

# RESULTS

**Description of studies** 

## **Results of the search**

The search strategy retrieved 2205 references to studies after deduplication. After examination of the titles and abstracts of these references, we considered 51 studies (54 articles) for critical appraisal. After evaluation of the full-text copies of the remaining studies, seven studies (10 articles) fulfilled the inclusion criteria. A PRISMA flow diagram illustrates the results of the search, screening, and selection of studies for inclusion (Figure 1).



## Figure 1. PRISMA flow diagram of study inclusion.

## **Included studies**

The articles obtained by bibliographic search were mostly in English and a minor proportion in German, Spanish, and Portuguese. Since the review authors were from different countries, they were able to read and translate the non-English studies. To obtain the full articles, we contacted different libraries and universities were contacted.

#### Characteristics of the trial designs

Seven randomized controlled trials (RCTs) that met the inclusion criteria were reported in 10 articles (Casa Pia 2007; Cunningham 1990; Hendriks 1986; Letzel 1989; NECAT 2007; Norman 1990; Robinson 1988). Two of the seven studies were parallel group trials (Casa Pia 2007; NECAT 2007), while the other five were splitmouth studies (Cunningham 1990; Hendriks 1986; Letzel 1989; Norman 1990; Robinson 1988).

The two parallel group studies reported data on two large RCTs that were developed to compare amalgam with composite to restore posterior teeth: The Casa Pia Study of Health Effects of Dental Amalgam in Children started in 1996 and was followed up for seven years (Casa Pia 2007), and The New England Children's Amalgam Trial (NECAT) conducted between September 1997 and March 2005 (NECAT 2007).

Some of the split-mouth studies reported data from a multicenter RCT designed for testing resin composite materials as a material suitable to restore posterior teeth, using amalgam restorations as positive control. The data from the split-mouth studies were not reported or analyzed in an appropriate way taking the clustering of the sites within participants into account. There were different numbers in the two groups, which makes the analysis even more problematic.

Two studies were conducted in the UK (Cunningham 1990; Robinson 1988), one in Portugal (Casa Pia 2007), one in the USA (NECAT 2007), one was a multicenter trial conducted in parts of Europe and in the USA (Letzel 1989), and the locations of two studies were not clearly reported (Hendriks 1986; Norman 1990). Three studies were funded by the same dental industry (Letzel 1989; Norman 1990; Robinson 1988), one was funded by a research grant (Casa Pia 2007), and the other three studies did not state their funding sources (Cunningham 1990; Hendriks 1986; NECAT 2007).

## Characteristics of the participants

Of the 1006 participants who took part in the two parallel group trials, data from 871 participants were analyzed. The participants were aged six to 12 years at baseline and follow-up period was five to seven years. Most of the split-mouth trials did not specify the number of participants recruited but reported data on 2190 restorations. The number of restorations varied between the five trials and ranged from 27 to 932.

#### **Characteristics of the interventions**

In the included studies, participants received amalgam restoration or composite resin restoration. In one study, participants received amalgam, compomer, or composite restoration but we have not presented the data on compomer restoration in this review (NECAT 2007).

#### **Characteristics of outcomes**

The primary outcome was failure rate. This parameter was collected and reported in all the included studies. Secondary caries was reported in six studies (Casa Pia 2007; Cunningham 1990; Hendriks 1986; NECAT 2007; Norman 1990; Robinson 1988), while fracture outcome data were reported in only two studies (Casa Pia 2007; NECAT 2007). Data on adverse outcomes were collected from participants included in the Casa Pia study and NECAT study but reported in three other articles linked to the respective primary studies. Neurobehavioral and renal function were reported in Casa Pia 2007, and psychosocial function and physical development were reported in NECAT 2007.

See Characteristics of included studies table for more information on included studies.

#### **Excluded studies**

*See* Characteristics of excluded studies table for further information on each excluded study.

In summary, the main reasons for exclusion after the critical appraisal of the 44 studies that had been initially identified as eligible for this review were:

• design was not randomized or controlled in the following studies: Allan 1977; Bryant 1994; Busato 1996; Cloyd 1997; Collins 1998; Eames 1974; Fukushima 1988; Hendriks 1985; Johnson 1992; Knibbs 1992; Kopperud 2012; Mjör 1993a; Mjör 1993b; Pieper 1991; Powers 1974; Prati 1988; Rowe 1989; Rytömaa 1984; Samaha 1982; Smales 1992; Tobi 1999; Van Nieuwenhuysen 2003;

- randomization was broken in one study: Welbury 1990;
- short follow-up less than specified in the protocol:

Borgmeijer 1991; Kreulen 1993a; Lambrechts 1984; Leinfelder 1975; Roulet 1977; Walls 1988;

• other methodologic reasons (lack of clarity on comparison between amalgam and composite, not clear if the materials were

tested in permanent posterior teeth, lack of clarity on evaluation of longevity and impossibility of obtaining useful data): Bellinger 2006; Dilley 1990; Kreulen 1993b; Leinfelder 1980; Mair 1998; Mannocci 2005; Nell 1994; Roulet 1978; Shenker 2008; Smales 1992; Wilson 1996;

• contacted one study author to obtain the data of an unpublished trial (Koray n.d.). We excluded the study as the authors did not reply;

• unable to obtain the full-text article of Solano 1984 for critical appraisal.

# **Risk of bias in included studies**

We judged all the included studies to be at high risk of bias (Figure 2). In most of the studies, bias was mainly due to lack of blinding. For the split-mouth studies in particular, it was due to failure to take clustering effect into account in the analysis.

	Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias)	Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)	Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)	Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Other bias
Casa Pia 2007	?	•	•	•	•	•	•
Cunningham 1990	?	•			?	•	
Hendriks 1986	?	•		•	?	•	•
Letzel 1989	?	•		•	?	•	
NECAT 2007	•				•	•	•
Norman 1990	•	•	?		?	•	
Robinson 1988	•	•	?	•	?	•	•

Figure 2. Risk of bias summary: review authors' judgments about each risk of bias item for each included study.

## **Randomization (selection bias)**

We considered three studies to be at low risk of selection bias (NECAT 2007; Norman 1990; Robinson 1988), while the other four studies were at unclear risk of bias for poor details on randomization process (Casa Pia 2007; Cunningham 1990; Hendriks 1986; Letzel 1989).

## Allocation

In all the included studies, there was no indication of allocation concealment. However, we judged the five split-mouth studies to be at low risk of bias because a lack of allocation concealment would neither make a difference nor introduce bias to a split-mouth study (Cunningham 1990; Hendriks 1986; Letzel 1989; Norman 1990; Robinson 1988). We considered the two parallel studies to be at high risk of bias (Casa Pia 2007; NECAT 2007).

## Blinding

We found all the studies to be at high risk of performance bias and detection bias since the nature of the intervention (dental restorations) does not allow blinding for the operators or for the participants. Even though some studies indicated that outcome assessment was carried out by evaluators independent of the operators (Norman 1990; Robinson 1988), we did not consider this to be sufficient to minimize detection bias.

#### Incomplete outcome data

Drop-out rates were similar in the intervention and comparator groups in the two studies we judged to be at low risk of attrition bias (Casa Pia 2007; NECAT 2007). In the other five studies that we considered to be at unclear risk of bias, an overall dropout rate was reported (Cunningham 1990; Hendriks 1986; Letzel 1989; Norman 1990; Robinson 1988). However, we were unable to determine whether the drop-out rate was differential.

#### Selective reporting

The data were well documented in all but one study (Letzel 1989), which reported all data for composite resin but did not report all the amalgam data.

#### Other potential sources of bias

None of the split-mouth studies had clearly indicated the number of restorations per participant resulting in high risk of bias due to unit of analysis error (Cunningham 1990; Hendriks 1986; Letzel 1989; Norman 1990; Robinson 1988). In addition, Letzel 1989 reported that there were notable variations in results across the different centers involved in the trial but provided no explanation for this. The two studies that we judged to be at low risk had no other apparent biases (Casa Pia 2007; NECAT 2007).

#### **Effects of interventions**

See: **Summary of findings for the main comparison** Primary and secondary outcomes for permanent or adult posterior teeth Due to the poor reporting of the split-mouth studies, which makes the reported data unreliable, we decided that the primary analysis should only include the two parallel group studies. We also undertook a secondary analysis of all included trials. We studied failure rate as the primary outcome, and secondary caries and fracture of the restoration as secondary outcomes. Psychosocial function, physical development, neurobehavioral assessments, and kidney function were considered to explore adverse effects of mercury release.

## Failure rate

The parallel group trials both recorded failure rate in the amalgam and composite group over a period of five to seven years. In total, 1365 amalgam restorations and 1645 composite restorations were analyzed. The pooled estimate showed that composite restorations had a significantly higher risk of failure than amalgam (risk ratio (RR) 1.89, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.52 to 2.35, P value < 0.001; fixed-effect model) (Analysis 1.1). There was indication of heterogeneity (P value = 0.005;  $I^2 = 87\%$ ), but, as there were only two studies, this could not be investigated. As the effect estimates for both studies were in the same direction, we decided to undertake the meta-analysis.

A subgroup analysis of the split-mouth studies also showed a similar trend with composite restorations having a higher risk of failure than amalgam restorations (RR 1.33, 95% CI 0.84 to 2.11, P value = 0.23; random-effects model) (*note* fixed-effect model displayed in forest plot as primary result is for parallel group subgroup). There was no evidence of heterogeneity (P value = 0.57; I  $^2 = 0\%$ ).

There was no evidence of a difference between the study design subgroups and the results of the parallel group and split-mouth trials when combined showed more precise results with composite restorations having a significantly higher risk of failure than amalgam restorations (RR 1.62, 95% CI 1.13 to 2.4, P value = 0.009; random-effects model). There was some evidence of heterogeneity (P value = 0.05;  $I^2 = 52\%$ ).

#### Secondary caries

Secondary caries was the most common reason for failure in the included studies. Meta-analysis of the parallel group studies showed

a higher risk of secondary caries in permanent posterior teeth with composite restoration compared with teeth with amalgam restoration (RR 2.14, 95% CI 1.67 to 2.74, P value < 0.001; fixed-effect model) (Analysis 1.2). Once again there was evidence of heterogeneity (P value < 0.001;  $I^2 = 92\%$ ), but, as there were only two studies, this could not be investigated. As the effect estimates for both studies were in the same direction, we decided to undertake the meta-analysis.

The outcome data from the split-mouth studies showed no significant difference in secondary caries when composite restorations were compared with amalgam restorations (RR 1.3, 95% CI 0.34 to 4.97, P value = 0.7; random-effects model). There was no evidence of heterogeneity (P value = 0.64; I<sup>2</sup> = 0%).

The combined results of the parallel group and split-mouth trials indicated an increased risk of secondary caries for composite restorations (RR 1.93, 95% CI 0.98 to 3.80, P value = 0.06; random-effects model). There was some evidence of heterogeneity (P value = 0.02;  $I^2 = 64\%$ ).

## Fracture of the restoration

Fracture of the restorations does not seem to be a common reason for failure in the studies reporting data on fracture. There was no evidence of a difference in risk of fracture between the two materials (RR 0.87, 95% CI 0.46 to 1.64, P value = 0.66; fixedeffect model). There was no evidence of heterogeneity (P value = 0.44;  $I^2 = 0\%$ ).

## Analysis of subgroups

One study reported failure rates separately in molars and premolars (Casa Pia 2007), but the results were not sufficient to determine whether there was an association between location of the restorations in different teeth and failure rate of restorations.

#### Adverse effects

Casa Pia 2007 presented trial results on the effects of mercury on the nervous system and the potential damage to the renal system in children. Some tests were carried out at baseline and at seven years after a filling placement, to explore intelligence, nerve conduction velocity, memory, attention, and visuomotor function (Additional Table 1). To study renal function, creatinine-adjusted urinary albumin levels were recorded at years one, two, three, four, five, six, and seven (Additional Table 2). According to the results, there was no statistically significant differences in measures of memory, attention, visuomotor function, or nerve conduction velocities. There were no significant group differences in creatinine-adjusted urinary albumin over the seven years of follow-up. A re-analysis of the data published in 2011, based on amalgam size and years of exposure, found a significant association between amalgam and the porphyrin biomarkers for mercury-related enzyme blockage, which suggests amalgams are a significant contributor to mercury body burden. A further investigation of a subgroup of children with genotyping assays demonstrated a genetic susceptibility to the adverse neurobehavioral effects of mercury exposure in children, predominantly in boys.

The NECAT 2007 trial focused on the effect of restorations on psychosocial function (Additional Table 3) and physical development (Additional Table 4) in children after five years of followup. The effect of restorations on psychosocial function was measured using two validated instruments: Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) parent report and Behaviour Assessment for Children Self Report (BASC-SR). The degree of exposure to restorations was expressed in surface years (SY); however, no direct comparison was made between children in the composite and amalgam arm. The BASC-SR measured emotional symptoms, clinical maladjustment, school maladjustment, personal adjustment, and core syndromes such as anxiety, depression, attitude to school, and interpersonal relations. The CBCL measured competence, total problem behaviors, internalizing problems, externalizing problems, and core syndromes such as attention problems, withdrawal, anxiety/depression, delinquent behaviors, and aggression.

The authors concluded that greater exposure to composite restorations was associated with impaired psychosocial function in children whereas no adverse psychosocial outcomes were observed with greater amalgam treatment levels. No between-group comparison was reported.

The growth outcomes considered were body fat percentage, body mass index (BMI) and height. There were no statistically significant differences in physical development in children given composite and amalgam restorations.

## DISCUSSION

## Summary of main results

We meta-analyzed seven trials reporting outcome data on failure rate, secondary caries, fracture of restoration, and adverse effects. However, due to the poor reporting and analysis of the data from the split-mouth studies, only evidence from the two parallel group trials are presented in Summary of findings for the main comparison to inform this review. The results of the two parallel group trials suggest that composite restorations are almost twice at risk of failing, and for having secondary caries compared with amalgam restorations. There was no evidence of a difference in fracture rates between amalgam and composite restorations. Though the evidence from the two trials may be considered insufficient, they are supported by five additional split-mouth trials, which found similar results on all three outcomes. While the results of the two parallel group trials showed greater effect size, they were less precise than the pooled estimate of all seven trials. As

none of the adverse effects were reported in more than one study, the results should be interpreted with caution.

# Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

The included studies were randomized controlled trials (RCTs) that compared resin composite restorations with amalgam restorations in permanent posterior teeth. Follow-up period ranged between three and seven years. We reported outcome results on failure rate, secondary caries, fracture of restorations, and adverse effects in this review. The event of a failure is reported rather than the non-event of survival. There was a limited number of studies reporting on adverse effects associated with either amalgam or compostie restorations, and the generalisability of the findings from these trials to populations other than healthy children (e.g children or adults with potential mercury-sensitive health conditions such as chronic kidney disease) is unclear. In addition, there is recent emerging research looking into genetic susceptibility to the adverse neurological effects of mercury exposure in children with effects manifested predominantly among boys. It is acknowledged that in order to complete a comprehensive systematic review of adverse events, observational studies would need to be included. This was not the focus of this review; only adverse events identified in the included trials have been reported.

We found insufficient outcome data on the cost of restorations, therefore, this outcome was not covered in the review.

The dental material industry is continuously evolving and improving the products that clinicians use. Most of the included studies were conducted in the 1990s. Some of the materials used in the studies included for the review may no longer be in use or may have been replaced by products with better mechanical properties and better resistance to wear, shrinkage, and fracture. In that case, the results of this review may not be a true reflection of the quality of new restorations that are currently in use.

## Quality of the evidence

The body of evidence is based on the results of two parallel group RCTs (involving 1006 participants and 3010 restorations) supported by an additional five split-mouth RCTs. Evidence on failure rate and secondary caries were assessed as low quality due to high risk of bias and inconsistency while evidence on fracture of restoration was of moderate quality. High risk of bias was due to lack of blinding and allocation concealment. Differences in oral hygiene may have contributed to the inconsistency observed with the failure rate and secondary caries outcomes owing to age differences of participants in both trials (mean age 7.9 and 10.2 years). Inconsistency may have also resulted from the difference in adhesives used for composite restoration in the studies. The trial that found an association between composite restoration and impaired

psychosocial function had reported that participants received additional composite restoration in cases where any anterior teeth needed restoration. This may have amplified the effects of composite restoration on psychosocial function.

#### Potential biases in the review process

There were units of analysis issues with all the studies as even the parallel group studies had more than one filling per person, and the data were analyzed without taking into account the clustering. This will mean that the confidence intervals for the effect estimates were smaller than they should be, but this effect will be very small. The effect for the split-mouth studies is unknown as there is lack of clarity in their reporting and this is why they have not been included in the primary analysis.

# Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

The results obtained in the process of the present systematic review are consistent with the conclusions of the systematic review performed by the Canadian Agency of Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH 2012), which presented safety, efficacy, and cost results. However, in the two studies in CADTH 2012 presenting efficacy data, the duration of follow-up was inadequate for inclusion in this review.

# AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

## Implications for practice

There is low-quality evidence to suggest that resin composites lead to higher failure rates and risk of secondary caries than amalgam restorations. This review reinforces the benefit of amalgam restorations and the results are particularly useful in parts of the world where amalgam is still the material of choice to restore posterior teeth with proximal caries. The review found insufficient evidence to support or refute any adverse effects amalgam or composite restorations may have on patients. However, emerging research is highlighting issues around genetic susceptibility to mercury. The decision for a global phase-down of amalgam (Minamata Convention on Mercury) will restrict the future use of amalgam.

## Implications for research

This review indicates that there are higher failure rates with resin composite than amalgam restorations. The included studies date back to 2007 and composite dental restorative materials have advanced considerably since then. Since the proposed discontinuation of use of amalgam depends on quality improvement of non-

mercury-based alternative restorative materials (BDA 2013), there is need for continued focus on new research demonstrating the long-term effectiveness of the latest improved composite materials, techniques, and instruments for placing them. If future studies use a split-mouth design then it is imperative that the data are analyzed and reported appropriately taking the clustering of sites within participants into account (Lesaffre 2009).

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We want to thank the following people.

Krishna Aravamudhan and Julie Frantsve-Hawley (American

Dental Association) and Aronita Rosenblatt (University of Pernambuco, Brazil) for their help in finding some articles.

Luisa Fernandez Mauleffinch (Cochrane Oral Health Group) for her help in amending the protocol.

Anne Littlewood (Cochrane Oral Health Group) for her contribution in bibliographic searching.

Helen Worthington, Tanya Walsh (Cochrane Oral Health Group), and Marta Roqué-Figuls (Iberoamerican Cochrane Center) for their contribution in the methodological issues.

Agustin Ciapponi (IECS Cochrane Center Co-ordinator, Iberoamerican Cochrane Network, Argentina) for his constant support.

Huan Lu for her help in completing the protocol.

# REFERENCES

## References to studies included in this review

### Casa Pia 2007 {published data only}

\* Bernardo M, Luis H, Martin MD, Leroux BG, Rue T, Leitão J, et al. Survival and reasons for failure of amalgam versus composite posterior restorations placed in a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of the American Dental Association* 2007;**138**(6):775–83. [PUBMED: PMID: 17545266]

DeRouen TA, Martin MD, Leroux BG, Townes BD, Woods JS, Leitao J, et al. Neurobehavioural effects of dental amalgam in children: a randomised clinical trial. *JAMA* 2006;**295**(15):1784–92. [PUBMED: PMID: 16622140] Geier DA, Carmody T, Kern JK, King PG, Geier MR. A dose-dependent relationship between mercury exposure from dental amalgams and urinary mercury levels: a further assessment of the Casa Pia Children's Dental Amalgam Trial. *Human & Experimental Toxicology* 2012;**31**(1):11–7. [PUBMED: PMID 21803780]

Geier DA, Carmody T, Kern JK, King PG, Geier MR. A significant dose-dependent relationship between mercury exposure from dental amalgams and kidney integrity biomarkers: a further assessment of the Casa Pia children's dental amalgam trial. *Human & Experimental Toxicology* 2013;**32**(4):434–40. [PUBMED: PMID 22893351] Geier DA, Carmody T, Kern JK, King PG, Geier MR. A significant relationship between mercury exposure from dental amalgams and urinary porphyrins: a further assessment of the Casa Pia children's dental amalgam trial. *Biometals* 2011;**24**(2):215–24. [PUBMED: PMID 21053054]

Woods JS, Heyer NJ, Russo JE, Martin MD, Pillai PB, Farin FM. Modification of neurobehavioral effects of mercury by genetic polymorphisms of metallothionein in children. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology* 2013;**39**:36–44. [PUBMED: PMID: 23827881]

#### Cunningham 1990 {published data only}

Cunningham J, Mair LH, Foster MA, Ireland RS. Clinical evaluation of three posterior composite and two amalgam restorative materials: 3-year results. *British Dental Journal* 1990;**169**(10):319–23. [PUBMED: PMID: 2271308]

#### Hendriks 1986 {published data only}

Hendriks FH, Letzel H, Vrijhoef MM. Composite versus amalgam restorations. A three-year clinical evaluation. *Journal of Oral Rehabilitation* 1986;**13**(5):401–11. [PUBMED: PMID: 3464721]

#### Letzel 1989 {published data only}

Letzel H. Survival rates and reasons for failure of posterior composite restorations in multicentre clinical trial. *Journal of Dentistry* 1989;**17**(Suppl 1):S10–7. [PUBMED: PMID: 265963]

#### NECAT 2007 {published data only}

Maserejian NN, Hauser R, Tavares M, Trachtenberg FL, Shrader P, McKinlay S. Dental composites and amalgam and physical development in children. *Journal of Dental Research* 2012;**91**(11):1019–25. [PUBMED: PMID: 22972857] Maserejian NN, Trachtenberg FL, Hauser R, McKinlay S, Shrader P, Tavares M, et al. Dental composite restorations and psychosocial function in children. *Pediatrics* 2012;**130**: 328–38. [PUBMED: PMID: 22802599]

\* Soncini JA, Maserejian NN, Trachtenberg F, Tavares M, Hayes C. The longevity of amalgam versus compomer/ composite restorations in posterior primary and permanent teeth: findings from the New England Children's Amalgam Trial. *Journal of the American Dental Association* 2007;**138** (6):763–7. [PUBMED: PMID: 17545265]

#### Norman 1990 {published data only}

Norman RD, Wright JS, Rydberg RJ, Felkner LL. A 5year study comparing a posterior composite resin and an amalgam. *Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry* 1990;**64**(5):523–9. [PUBMED: PMID: 2090809]

#### Robinson 1988 {published data only}

Robinson AA, Rowe AH, Maberley ML. A three-year study of the clinical performance of a posterior composite and a lathe cut amalgam alloy. *British Dental Journal* 1988;**164** (8):248–52. [PUBMED: PMID: 3164193]

## References to studies excluded from this review

#### Allan 1977 {published data only}

Allan DN. A longitudinal study of dental restorations. *British Dental Journal* 1977;**143**(3):87–9. [PUBMED: PMID: 268962]

## Bellinger 2006 {published data only}

Bellinger DC, Trachtenberg F, Barregard L, Tavares M, Cernichiari E, Daniel D, et al. Neuropsychological and renal effects of dental amalgam in children: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 2006;**295**(15):1775–83. [clinicaltrials.gov Identifier: NCT00065988; PUBMED: PMID 16622139 ]

## Borgmeijer 1991 {published data only}

Borgmeijer PJ, Kreulen CM, van Amerongen WE, Akerboom HB, Gruythuysen R. The prevalence of postoperative sensitivity in teeth restored with Class II composite resin restorations. *ASDC Journal of Dentistry for Children* 1991;**58**(5):378–83. [PUBMED: PMID: 1939803]

## Bryant 1994 {published data only}

Bryant RW, Hodge KL. A clinical evaluation of posterior composite resin restorations. *Australian Dental Journal* 1994;**39**(2):77–8. [PUBMED: PMID: 8018063]

## Busato 1996 {published data only}

Busato ALS, Baldissera RA, Barbosa AN, Bueno M. The clinical evaluation of the composite resins and amalgam restorations in molars and premolars [Avaliação clínica de restaurações de resina composta e amálgama em dentes posteriores – 5 anos]. *Revista Brasileira de Odontologia* 1996; **53**(3):30–5. [LILACS ID: lil–187592]

#### Cloyd 1997 {published data only}

Cloyd S, Gilpatrick RO, Moore D. Preventive resin restorations vs. amalgam restorations: a three-year clinical study. *Journal of Tennessee Dental Association* 1997;77(4): 36–40. [PUBMED: PMID: 9520761]

#### Collins 1998 {published data only}

Collins CJ, Bryant RW, Hodge KL. A clinical evaluation of posterior composite resin restorations: 8-year findings. *Journal of Dentistry* 1998;**26**(4):311–7. [PUBMED: PMID: 9611936]

#### Dilley 1990 {published data only}

Dilley DC, Vann WF Jr, Oldenburg TR, Crisp RM. Time required for placement of composite versus amalgam restorations. *ASDC Journal of Dentistry for Children* 1990; **57**(3):177–83. [PUBMED: PMID: 2345211]

#### Eames 1974 {published data only}

Eames WB, Strain JD, Weitman RT, Williams AK. Clinical comparison of composite, amalgam, and silicate restorations. *Journal of the American Dental Association* 1974;**89**(5):1111–7. [PUBMED: PMID: 4529964]

#### Fukushima 1988 {published data only}

Fukushima M, Setcos JC, Phillips RW. Marginal fracture of posterior composite resins. *The Journal of the American Dental Association* 1988;**117**(5):577–83. [PUBMED: PMID: 3066806]

## Hendriks 1985 {published data only}

Hendriks FH, Letzel H, Vrijhoef MM. Cost benefit analysis of direct posterior restorations. *Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology* 1985;**13**(5):256–9. [PUBMED: PMID: 3931963]

## Johnson 1992 {published data only}

Johnson GH, Bales DJ, Gordon GE, Powell LV. Clinical performance of posterior composite resin restorations. *Quintessence International* 1992;**23**(10): 705–11. [PUBMED: PMID: 1289954]

#### Knibbs 1992 {published data only}

Knibbs PJ, Smart ER. The clinical performance of a posterior composite resin restorative material, Heliomolar
R.O.: 3-year report. *Journal of Oral Rehabilitation* 1992;19 (3):231–7. [PUBMED: PMID: 1500966]

## Kopperud 2012 {published data only}

Kopperud SE, Tveit AB, Gaarden T, Sandvik L, Espelid I. Longevity of posterior dental restorations and reasons for failure. *European Journal of Oral Science* 2012;**120**:539–48.

## Koray n.d. {published data only}

Koray F, Murray PE, Garcia-Godoy F. Clinical performance of amalgam and composite restorations. Istanbul University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Conservative Dentistry, Turkey, Istanbul University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biostatistic, Turkey (unpublished).

## Kreulen 1993a {published data only}

Kreulen CM, van Amerongen WE, Gruythuysen RJ, Borgmeijer PJ, Akerboom HB. Prevalence of postoperative sensitivity with indirect Class II resin composite inlays. *ASDC Journal of Dentistry for Children* 1993;**60**(2):95–8. [PUBMED: PMID: 8486862]

# Kreulen 1993b {published data only}

Kreulen CM, van Amerongen WE, Borgmeijer PJ, Akerboom HB. Comparison of two methods for evaluating the occlusal marginal adaptation of posterior restorations. *ASDC Journal of Dentistry for Children* 1993;**60**(4-5): 304–9. [PUBMED: PMID: 8258574]

#### Lambrechts 1984 {published data only}

Lambrechts P, Vanherle G, Vuylsteke M, Davidson CL. Quantitative evaluation of the wear resistance of posterior dental restorations: a new three-dimensional measuring technique. *Journal of Dentistry* 1984;**12**(3):252–6. [PUBMED: PMID: 6593340]

#### Leinfelder 1975 {published data only}

Leinfelder KF, Sluder TB, Sockwell CL, Strickland WD, Wall JT. Clinical evaluation of composite resins as anterior and posterior restorative materials. *Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry* 1975;**33**(4):407–16. [PUBMED: PMID: 1054419]

#### Leinfelder 1980 {published data only}

Leinfelder KF, Sluder TB, Santos JFF, Wall JT. Five-year clinical evaluation of anterior and posterior restorations of composite resin. *Operative Dentistry* 1980;**5**(2):57–65. [PUBMED: PMID: 9539464]

## Mair 1995 {published data only}

Mair LH. Wear patterns in two amalgams and three posterior composites after 5 years' clinical service. *Journal of Dentistry* 1995;**23**(2):107–12. [PUBMED: PMID: 7738266]

## Mair 1998 {published data only}

Mair LH. Ten-year clinical assessment of three posterior resin composites and two amalgams. *Quintessence International* 1998;**29**(8):483–90. [PUBMED: PMID: 9807127]

#### Mannocci 2005 {published data only}

Mannocci F, Qualtrough AJ, Worthington HV, Watson TF, Pitt Ford TR. Randomized clinical comparison of endodontically treated teeth restored with amalgam or with fiber posts and resin composite: five-year results. *Operative Dentistry* 2005;**30**(1):9–15. [PUBMED: PMID: 15765952]

## Mjör 1993a {published data only}

Mjör IA, Jokstad A. Five-year study of Class II restorations in permanent teeth using amalgam, glass polyalkenoate (ionomer) cement and resin-based composite materials. *Journal of Dentistry* 1993;**21**(6):338–43. [PUBMED: PMID: 8258583]

## Mjör 1993b {published data only}

Mjör IA, Um CM. Survey of amalgam and composite restorations in Korea. *International Dental Journal* 1993;**43** (4):311–6. [PUBMED: PMID: 8276514]

## Nell 1994 {published data only}

Nell A, Ferenz C, Sperr W. The behavior of gingiva at supra- and subgingival preparation margins by using amalgam and composite as filling material [Verhalten der Gingiva bei supra–und subgingivalen Präparationsrändern bei Verwendung von Amalgam und Composite als Füllungsmaterial]. *Zeitschrift fur Stomatologie* 1994;**91**(4): 173–6.

#### Pieper 1991 {published data only}

Pieper K, Meyer G. Marienhagen B, Motsch A. A long term study of amalgam and composite fillings [Eine langzeitstudie an amalgam–und kuntstoff–fullugen]. *Deutsche Zahnärztliche Zeitschrift* 1991;**46**(3):222–5. [PUBMED: PMID: 1814726]

#### Powers 1974 {published data only}

Powers JM, Allen LJ, Craig RG. Two-body abrasion of commercial and experimental restorative and coating resins and an amalgam. *Journal of the American Dental Association* 1974;**89**(5):1118–22. [PUBMED: PMID: 4610026]

## Prati 1988 {published data only}

Prati C, Montanari G. Three-year clinical study of two composite resins and one non-gamma 2 conventional amalgam in posterior teeth. *Schweiz Monatsschr Zahnmed* 1988;**98**(2):120–25. [PUBMED: PMID: 3162608]

#### Roulet 1977 {published data only}

Roulet JF. Clinical comparison of 3 composite resins with amalgam in the region of the posterior teeth [Ein klinischer Vergleich 3–er Komposits mit Amalgam im Seitenzahnbereich]. *Deutsches Zahnärzteblatt* 1977;**86**(21): 1055–62. [PUBMED: PMID: 337725]

## Roulet 1978 {published data only}

Roulet JF, Mettler P, Friedrich U. The abrasion of amalgam and composites in the lateral dental region [Die Abrasion von Amalgam und Komposits im Seitenzahnbereich]. *Deutsche Zahnärztliche Zeitschrift* 1978;**33**(3):206–9. [PUBMED: PMID: 274270]

#### Rowe 1989 {published data only}

Rowe AH. A five year study of the clinical performance of a posterior composite resin restorative material. *Journal* of *Dentistry* 1989;**17**(Suppl 1):6–9. [PUBMED: PMID: 2659636]

#### Rytömaa 1984 {published data only}

Rytömaa I, Murtomaa H, Turtola L, Lind K. Clinicalassessment of amalgam fillings. *Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology* 1984;**12**(3):169–72. [PUBMED: PMID: 6378506]

## Samaha 1982 {published data only}

Samaha NS. Effect of different composites and amalgam on the gingiva [Die Auswirkung verschiedener Komposite und von Amalgam auf die Gingiva]. *Deutsche Zahnärztliche Zeitschrift* 1982;**37**(4):339–43. [PUBMED: PMID: 7047143]

## Shenker 2008 {published data only}

Shenker BJ, Maserejian NN, Zhang A, McKinlay S. Immune function effects of dental amalgam in children: a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of the American Dental Association* 2008;**139**(11):1496–505. [CENTRAL: PMCID: PMC2908994; PUBMED: PMID: 18978388]

#### Smales 1991 {published data only}

Smales RJ. Long-term deterioration of composite resin and amalgam restorations. *Operative Dentistry* 1991;**16**(6): 202–9. [PUBMED: PMID: 1840079]

## Smales 1992 {published data only}

Smales RJ. Effect of rubber dam isolation on restoration deterioration. *American Journal of Dentistry* 1992;**5**(5): 277–9. [PUBMED: PMID: 1299257 ]

#### Solano 1984 {published data only}

Solano MdaC Pereira Pinto. A comparative study between composite resins and amalgam in Class I cavities of permanent molars [Estudo comparativo entre compósito e amálgama em Classe I de primeiros molares permanentes]. Masters Dissertation 1984; Vol. 58.

#### Tobi 1999 {published data only}

Tobi H, Kreulen CM, Vondeling H, van Amerongen W. Cost-effectiveness of composite resins and amalgam in the replacement of amalgam Class II restorations. *Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology* 1999;**27**(2):137–4. [PUBMED: PMID: 10226724]

#### Van Nieuwenhuysen 2003 {published data only}

Van Nieuwenhuysen JP, D'Hoore W, Carvalho J, Qvist V. Long-term evaluation of extensive restorations in permanent teeth. *Journal of Dentistry* 2003;**31**(6):395–405. [PUBMED: PMID: 12878022]

# Walls 1988 {published data only}

Walls AWG, Murray JJ, McCabe JF. The management of occlusal caries in permanent molars. A clinical trial comparing a minimal composite restoration with an occlusal amalgam restoration. *British Dental Journal* 1988;**164**: 288–92. [PUBMED: PMID: 3164204]

## Welbury 1990 {published data only}

Welbury RR, Walls AWG, Murray JJ, McCabe JF. The management of occlusal caries in permanent molars. A 5year clinical trial comparing a minimal composite with an amalgam restoration. *British Dental Journal* 1990;**169**: 361–6. [PUBMED: PMID: 2275837]

## Wilson 1996 {published data only}

Wilson NHF, Wastell DG, Norman RD. Five-year performance of high-copper content amalgam restorations in a multiclinical trial of a posterior composite. *Journal of Dentistry* 1996;**24**(3):203–10. [PUBMED: PMID: 8675791]

## Additional references

#### BDA 2013

British Dental Association. The Future Use of Dental Amalgam, 2013. Available from: www.bda.org/ dentists/policy-campaigns/public-health-science/dentalamalgam.aspx (accessed 19 March 2014).

## **CADTH 2012**

Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH). Composite Resin and Amalgam Dental Filling Materials: a Review of Safety, Clinical Effectiveness and Cost-effectiveness. Available from: www.cadth.ca/media/pdf/htis/june-2012/ RC0358%20Dental%20amalgam%20Final.pdf (accessed 19 March 2014).

## Costa 2012

Costa SM, Martins CC, Bonfim Mde L, Zina LG, Paiva SM, Pordeus IA, et al. A systematic review of socioeconomic indicators and dental caries in adults. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 2012;**9**(10): 3540–74.

#### Cramer 2011

Cramer NB, Stansbury JW, Bowman CN. Recent advances and developments in composite dental restorative materials. *Journal of Dental Research* 2011;**90**(4):402–16. [CENTRAL: PMCID: PMC3144137; PUBMED: PMID: 20924063]

#### Easterbrook 1991

Easterbrook PJ, Berlin JA, Gopalan R, Matthews DR. Publication bias in clinical research. *Lancet* 1991;**337** (8746):867–72.

#### Elbourne 2002

Elbourne DR, Altman DG, Higgins JP, Curtin F, Worthington HV, Vail A. Meta-analyses involving crossover trials: methodological issues. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2002;**31**(1):140–9. [PUBMED: PMID: 11914310]

#### Ferreira Zandona 2012

Ferreira Zandona A, Santiago E, Eckert GJ, Katz BP, Pereira de Oliveira S, Capin OR, et al. The natural history of dental caries lesions: a 4-year observational study. Journal of Dental Research 2012; Vol. 91, issue 9:841–6. [CENTRAL: PMCID: PMC3420396 ; PUBMED: PMID: 22821238]

### Gomes 2009

Gomes AS, Abegg C, Fachel JM. Relationship between oral clinical conditions and daily performances. *Brazilian Oral Research* 2009;**23**(1):76–81. [PUBMED: PMID: 19488476]

#### Higgins 2011

Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from: www.cochrane-handbook.org.

#### **ICDAS 2011**

International Caries Detection and Assessment System (ICDAS) Coordinating Committee. Rationale and evidence for the International Caries Detection and Assessment System (ICDAS II). Available from: www.icdas.org/ downloads (accessed 19 March 2014).

### Kelly 2004

Kelly PG, Smales RJ. Long-term cost-effectiveness of single indirect restorations in selected dental practices. *British Dental Journal* 2004;**196**(10):639–43. [PUBMED: PMID: 15153977]

#### Lesaffre 2009

Lesaffre E, Philstrom B, Needleman I, Worthington H. The design and analysis of split-mouth studies: what statisticians and clinicians should know. *Statistics in Medicine* 2009;**10** (28):3470–82.

#### Libonati 2011

Libonati A, Marzo G, Klinger FG, Farin D, Gallusi G, Tecco S, et al. Embryotoxicity assays for leached components from dental restorative materials. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* 2011;**9**:136. [CENTRAL: PMCID: PMC3204284 ; PUBMED: PMID: 21978455]

#### Lutz 1999

Lutz F, Krejci I. Resin composites in the post-amalgam age. Compendium of Continuing Education in Dentistry 1999;**20** (12):1138-44, 1146, 1148. [PUBMED: PMID: 10850266]

#### Makhija 2011

Makhija SK, Gordan VV, Gilbert GH, Litaker MS, Rindal DB, Pihlstrom DJ, et al. Practitioner, patient and carious lesion characteristics associated with type of restorative material: findings from The Dental Practice-Based Research Network. *Journal of the American Dental Association* 2011;

**142**(6):622–32. [CENTRAL: PMCID: PMC3107519; PUBMED: PMID: 21628683 ]

#### McDonald 2001

McDonald A. Advances in operative dentistry and fixed prosthodontics. *Primary Dental Care* 2001;**8**(1):13–6. [PUBMED: PMID: 11405026]

# Mitchell 2007

Mitchell RJ, Koike M, Okabe T. Posterior amalgam restorations - usage, regulation, and longevity. *Dental Clinics of North America* 2007;**51**(3):573–89. [PUBMED: PMID: 17586144]

#### Mo 2010

Mo S, Bao W, Lai GY, Wang J, Li MY. The microfloral analysis of secondary caries biofilm around Class I and Class II composite and amalgam fillings. *BMC Infectious Diseases* 2010;**10**:241. [CENTRAL: PMCID: PMC2931511 ; PUBMED: PMID: 20712908]

#### Nascimento 2010

Nascimento MM, Gordan VV, Qvist V, Litaker MS, Rinda DB, Williams OD, et al. Reasons for placement of restorations on previously unrestored tooth surfaces by dentists in the Dental Practice-Based Research Network. *Journal of the American Dental Association* 2010;**141**(4): 441–8. [CENTRAL: PMCID: PMC2848821 ; PUBMED: PMID: 20354094]

#### Paula 2012

Paula JS, Leite IC, Almeida AB, Ambrosano GM, Pereira AC, Mialhe FL. The influence of oral health conditions, socioeconomic status and home environment factors on schoolchildren's self-perception of quality of life. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes* 2012;**10**:6. [CENTRAL: PMCID: PMC3285522 ; PUBMED: PMID: 22244092 ]

## Rathore 2012

Rathore M, Singh A, Pant VA. The dental amalgam toxicity fear: a myth or actuality. *Toxicology International* 2012;**19**(2):81–8. [CENTRAL: PMCID: PMC3388771; PUBMED: PMID: 22778502]

## Roulet 1997

Roulet JF. Benefits and disadvantages of tooth-coloured alternatives to amalgam. *Journal of Dentistry* 1997;**25**(6): 459–73. [PUBMED: PMID: 9604577 ]

#### **UNEP 2013**

United Nations Environment Programme. The Minamata Convention on Mercury, 2013. Available from: www.mercuryconvention.org/Portals/11/documents/ publications/MinamataConventiontextEn.pdf (accessed 19 March 2014).

#### WHO 2012

World Health Organization (WHO). What is the Burden of Oral Disease?. Available from www.who.int/oral health/ disease burden/global/en/ (accessed 19 March 2014).

\* Indicates the major publication for the study

# CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

# Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

## Casa Pia 2007

Methods	Study design: parallel group RCT Conducted in: Lisbon, Portugal Number of centers: 1 at Lisbon Faculty of Dental Medicine Recruitment period: started in 1996 Funding source: National Institute of Dental & Craniofacial Research
Participants	Inclusion criteria: children born from 1986 through 1989. At least 1 carious lesion in a permanent posterior tooth. Urinary mercury concentration less than 10 $\mu$ g/L. Blood lead concentration of less than 15 $\mu$ g/dL. An IQ score at least 67 on Comprehensive Test of Nonverbal Intelligence Exclusion criteria: prior exposure to dental amalgam, interference health condition Age: 8-12 years Caries risk status: unclear Location of teeth filled: 1545 permanent molars and 203 premolars Type of cavity filled: 879 Class I restorations and 869 Class II restorations Number randomized: 507 children Number evaluated: 472
Interventions	Comparison: composite versus amalgam Group A: 233 children received 892 composite restorations Group B: 239 children received 856 amalgam restorations Type of moisture control: the restorations were placed using rubber dam isolation when- ever possible Duration of follow-up: 7 years
Outcomes	<ol> <li>Failure rate, estimated at 7 years</li> <li>Secondary caries, estimated at 7 years</li> <li>Fracture of restoration, estimated at 7 years</li> <li>Adverse sentinel health events</li> <li>Neurobehavioral assessment of memory, attention concentration, and motor/ visuomotor domains, as well as nerve conduction velocities, estimated at year 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7</li> </ol>
Notes	Sample size calculation: selected to ensure adequate power for detecting 2 potential scenarios The first scenario was a small but near-uniform effect of 0.3 SD for the 3 neurobehavioral outcomes, and half of that (0.15 SD) for the nerve conduction outcome. The effect size of 0.3 SD represents a shift that would cause the proportion of abnormally low values in a normally distributed population to increase from 2.5% to 5.0%, thus doubling the proportion classified as abnormally low For the second scenario, a potential effect in only 1 of the 4 outcomes was of interest, so an effect size of 0.5 SD in the nerve conduction outcome was used, with no effects in the others A sample size of 400 (200 in each group) through 5 years of follow-up provided adequate

# power (97%) to detect both scenarios

# Risk of bias

5		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Even though the children were randomly assigned to 1 of the 2 treatment groups, the authors did not explain which method of randomization was used
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	High risk	Not reported
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not reported. Due to the clinical charac- teristics of the interventions, blinding was not possible
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	The restorative procedures were standard- ized and the dentists were calibrated be- fore starting the trial but there is no indica- tion that assessors were blinded or different from the operators
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	No children were missed and all of them were analyzed in the group that they were allocated by randomization
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	Of the initial 507 children, 19 had no dental exam after baseline and 16 had no restoration to posterior teeth at baseline. 472 children (93%) were followed up for 1 years
Other bias	Low risk	No other bias apparent

# Cunningham 1990

Methods	Study design: RCT of split-mouth design Conducted in: Liverpool, UK. Number of centers: 3 dentists, 1 based at Liverpool Dental Hospital, the others being general practitioners Recruitment period: not reported Funding source: unclear
Participants	Inclusion criteria: teeth requiring the treatment of Class I and Class II carious lesions Exclusion criteria: unclear Age: not reported Caries risk status: unclear

# Cunningham 1990 (Continued)

	Location of teeth filled: not reported Type of cavity filled: O: 83 cavities, MO: 140 cavities, DO: 164 cavities, MOD: 122 cavities Number randomized: 605 cavities (Class I or Class II lesions) were randomly assigned to be restored with 2 different amalgams and 3 different composites Number evaluated: 509 restorations were reviewed
Interventions	Comparison: composite versus amalgam Group A: 309 composite restorations Group B: 200 amalgam restorations Type of moisture control: unclear Duration of follow-up: 3 years
Outcomes	<ol> <li>Failures and fractures of the restorations, estimated at year 3</li> <li>Contact points, estimated at 6, 12, 24, and 36 months</li> <li>Gingival inflammation, estimated at 6, 12, 24, and 36 months</li> <li>Marginal stain and caries, estimated at year 3</li> <li>Color match, estimated at year 3</li> </ol>
Notes	Sample size calculation: unclear

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Even though the teeth were randomly as- signed to treatment groups; the authors did not explain which method of randomiza- tion was used to generate the allocation se- quence
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	There was no information about the method used to conceal the allocation se- quence; however, due to the study design (split-mouth), a lack of allocation conceal- ment was unlikely to introduce bias
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not reported. Due to the clinical charac- teristics of the interventions, blinding was not possible
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Due to the clinical characteristics of the in- terventions, blinding was not possible
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Of the original 605 restorations, 509 could be examined at 3 years and the losses were said to have been evenly distributed across the trial arms but no data showing this. Fol-

# Cunningham 1990 (Continued)

	low-up 84.1%		
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	All the data were well reported	
Other bias	High risk	Unit of analysis error - the total number of participants was not indicated in the paper. There were 5 materials in consideration and each tooth was randomized to 1 of them but it is not really clear which is the real number of restoration per participants	
Hendriks 1986			
Methods	Study design: RCT of split-mouth design Conducted in: unclear Number of centers: 3 operators Recruitment period: unclear Funding source: unclear		
Participants	Inclusion criteria: not reported Exclusion criteria: not reported Age: adults Caries risk status: unclear Location of teeth filled: 108 permanent molars and 124 premolars Type of cavity filled: not reported Number randomized: 242 cavities Number evaluated: 232 cavities		
Interventions	Comparison: composite versus amalgam Group A: 174 composite restorations Group B: 58 amalgam restorations Type of moisture control: rubber dam Duration of follow-up: 3 years		
Outcomes	Failures of restorations estimated at year 3		
Notes	Sample size calculation: not reported		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	The 4 materials within each series were dis- tributed at random over the teeth selected for restoration and the participants were as-	

Direct composite resin fillings versus amalgam fillings for permanent or adult posterior teeth (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

signed at random to 1 of 3 operators. The authors did not explain which method of

randomization was used

# Hendriks 1986 (Continued)

Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	There was no clarification in the paper about allocation concealment; however, due to the design of the study (split-mouth) , a lack of allocation concealment was un- likely to introduce bias
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not reported. Due to the clinical charac- teristics of the interventions, blinding was not possible
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Due to the clinical characteristics of the in- terventions, blinding was not possible
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	The 3-year retrieval percentage of both the participants and restoration was 96%. However, the dropout rate was not reported by trial arm
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	All the data were well reported
Other bias	Low risk	No other bias apparent

# Letzel 1989

Methods	Study design: multicenter RCT, split-mouth design Conducted in: Liverpool (UK), London (UK), Manchester (UK), North Carolina (USA) , Indianapolis (USA), South Illinois (USA), Philadelphia (USA), Gotenburg (Sweden), Nijmegen (Netherlands), Leuven (Belgium), Louvain (Belgium), Bonn (Germany) Number of centers: 12 Recruitment period: not reported Funding source: ICI Dental Imperial Chemical Industries, Macclesfield, UK
Participants	Inclusion criteria: adults with teeth requiring posterior Class I or II restorations. Sound tooth or a sound restored tooth in proximal contact with each of the teeth were included Exclusion criteria: people who might have been unable to return for 5 years or who required special management, extensive restorative care, or cuspal replacement. Teeth requiring Class II restorations that had no proximal contact. Pairs of opposing teeth Age: adults, age not reported Caries risk status: unclear Location of teeth filled: posterior teeth Type of cavity filled: Class I and II restorations Number randomized: 447 adults, 1164 cavities Number evaluated: 338 adults, 693 cavities
Interventions	Comparison: composite versus amalgam Group A: 461 composite restorations Group B: 232 amalgam restorations

# Letzel 1989 (Continued)

	Type of moisture control: unclear Duration of follow-up: 5 years
Outcomes	Primary outcome: failure In order to trace the causes of failure in each case, the reasons for failure were classified according to a system described by Letzel et al in 1988. This system was designed for an evaluation of the influence of experimental variables and operators on the survival rate of restorations included in controlled clinical trials of dental amalgams The system distinguishes 3 types of restoration failure: Type 1 - failures directly related to the restoration (i.e. the material and the way it is manipulated into a restoration) Type 2 - failures related to the restorative process (i.e. the result of the decision-making process of the operator) Type 3 - failures caused by external factors
Notes	Sample size calculation: not reported 12 centers were involved in the trial but the data of only 10 centers were used in this study because they complied with the condition of fully reviewing the restorations after at least 4 years

# Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	The authors declared that randomization was done in 5 of the centers, but there is no explanation about if the sequence gen- eration had been at random in the other centers
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	There is no clarification in the paper about allocation concealment; however, due to the design of the study (split-mouth), a lack of allocation concealment was unlikely to introduce bias
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Not reported. Due to the clinical charac- teristics of the interventions, blinding was not possible
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Due to the clinical characteristics of the in- terventions, blinding was not possible
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	The follow-up at 4 years was 76% for com- posite restorations. Dropout rate for amal- gam was not clearly reported

# Letzel 1989 (Continued)

Selective reporting (reporting bias)	High risk	All the data seemed to be well reported for composite but partially reported for amal- gam, especially follow-up data
Other bias	High risk	There were variations in practice and dropout rate among the centers and the rea- son for these variations was not clearly ex- plained. Unit of analysis error - number of restorations reported but not the number of participants per restoration
NECAT 2007		
Methods	Study design: parallel group RCT Conducted in: USA Number of centers: 5 community centers from Boston and Maine, USA Recruitment period: 1997-2005 Funding source: unclear	
Participants	Inclusion criteria: children fluent in English. Had 2 or more posterior teeth with dental caries. Primary and permanent teeth Exclusion criteria: had known prior or existing amalgam restorations. Had a physician diagnosed psychological behavioral, neurologic, immunosuppressive, or renal disorder Age: 6-10 years Caries risk status: not reported Location of teeth filled: posterior teeth Type of cavity filled: Class I and Class II restorations Number randomized: 534 children Number evaluated: 449 children	
Interventions	Comparison: composite versus amalgam Group A: 753 composite restorations Group B: 509 amalgam restorations Type of moisture control/tooth isolation: rubber dam Duration of follow-up: 5 years. Evaluation every 6 months	
Outcomes	Rate of replacement and repair of the restorations, psychosocial function (5-year follow-up), physical development (5-year follow-up)	
Notes	Sample size calculation: not reported. We use only data from permanent teeth	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	Randomization was stratified by geo- graphic location (Boston/Cambridge ver-

# NECAT 2007 (Continued)

		sus Farmington) and number of teeth with caries (2-4 versus 5 or more), using ran- domly permuted blocks within each of the 4 strata
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	High risk	Not reported
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	High risk	Participants and dentists could not be blinded to treatment assignment
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Due to the clinical characteristics of the in- terventions, blinding was not possible
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	The follow-up at 3 years was 84% and the losses were similar in both groups
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	All data were well reported
Other bias	Low risk	No other apparent biases
Norman 1990		
Methods	Study design: RCT with split-mouth design Conducted in: unclear Number of centers: 1 Recruitment period: not reported Funding source: ICI, Imperial Chemical In	1 dustries, Macclesfield, UK
Participants	Inclusion criteria: participants in need of posterior Class I and II restorations. Maximum of 4 restorations were allowed. Selection of the teeth required that there be a sound tooth or a sound restored tooth in proximal contact to the restoration. At least a portion of the restoration was required to be in contact with an opposite tooth or restoration Exclusion criteria: not reported Age: 28-40 years Caries risk status: not reported Location of teeth filled: molars and premolars Type of cavity filled: Class I and II restorations Number randomized: 62 participants, 160 restorations Number evaluated: 123 restorations	
Interventions	Comparison: composite versus amalgam Group A: 80 Occlusin composite. Light cured, highly filled hybrid posterior composite resin Group B: 43 Dispersaloy amalgam Type of moisture control: rubber dam was used to isolate the teeth Duration of follow-up: 5 years	

## Norman 1990 (Continued)

Outcomes	Primary outcomes were failure and recurrent caries Wear, marginal adaptation, anatomic form, interproximal contacts
Notes	Sample size calculation: not reported

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	All restorations were placed by following a random selection chart for composite resins and amalgam
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	There was no information about the method used to conceal the allocation se- quence; however, due to the design of the study (split-mouth), a lack of allocation concealment was unlikely to introduce bias
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not reported. Due to the clinical charac- teristics of the interventions, blinding was not possible
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Due to the clinical characteristics of the in- terventions, blinding was not possible
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	The follow-up at 5 years was 80.6%. How- ever, the dropout rate was not reported by trial arm
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	All data were well reported
Other bias	High risk	Unit of analysis error - number of restora- tions reported but not the number of par- ticipants

# Robinson 1988

Methods

Study design: RCT of Split-mouth design Conducted in: Guy's Hospital, London, UK Number of centers: 1 Recruitment period: not clear Funding source: ICI Dental, Macclesfield, UK

# Robinson 1988 (Continued)

Participants	Inclusion criteria: adults who required occlusal and proximo-occlusal restorations in vital premolars and molars Exclusion criteria: mental and physical disabilities likely to prevent continued co-oper- ation, people who would not be available for the long-term follow-up visits over the 5 years and restorations requiring cuspal replacement Age: 19-66 years Caries risk status: not reported Location of teeth filled: molars and premolars Type of cavity filled: Class I and II restorations Number randomized: 58 participants, 98 composites and 27 amalgams Number evaluated: 90 restorations
Interventions	Comparison: composite versus amalgam Group A: 70 Occlusin composite Group B: 20 Aristaloy amalgam Type of moisture control/tooth isolation used: rubber dam isolation in 82.4% of cases Duration of follow-up: 3 years
Outcomes	Failure rate in terms of the following criteria: gingival condition, interproximal contacts, color match, anatomic form, surface roughness
Notes	Sample size calculation: not reported

# Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	The participants were allocated to receive composite or amalgam restoration in the ratio 3:1 from a randomized table
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	There was no information about the method used to conceal the allocation se- quence; however, due to the design of the study (split-mouth), a lack of allocation concealment was unlikely to introduce bias
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not reported. Due to the clinical charac- teristics of the interventions, blinding was not possible
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) All outcomes	High risk	Due to the clinical characteristics of the in- terventions, blinding was not possible
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	The follow-up at 36 month was 78.4% but it was not clear whether drop-out was bal- anced between the trial arms

## Robinson 1988 (Continued)

Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Low risk	All data were well reported
Other bias	High risk	Unit of analysis error - number of restora- tions reported but not the number of par- ticipants

D: distal; IQ: intelligence quotient; M: mesial; MOD: mesial, occlusal, and distal; O: occlusal; RCT: randomized controlled trial; SD: standard deviation.

# Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Allan 1977	Non-RCT. Retrospective analysis of dental records
Bellinger 2006	This study reports data of the New England Children's Amalgam Trial. As the data of permanent and temporary dentition were not informed separately, it was not possible to extract the data of permanent posterior teeth
Borgmeijer 1991	Insufficient follow-up and incomplete data
Bryant 1994	Not an RCT. No randomization
Busato 1996	Not an RCT. No randomization
Cloyd 1997	Not an RCT. No randomization
Collins 1998	Not an RCT. No randomization
Dilley 1990	It did not evaluate longevity correctly
Eames 1974	Not an RCT. No randomization
Fukushima 1988	Not an RCT. No randomization
Hendriks 1985	Not an RCT. No randomization
Johnson 1992	Not an RCT. No randomization
Knibbs 1992	Not an RCT. No randomization
Kopperud 2012	Not a randomized trial
Koray n.d.	Unpublished. The author did not respond to the request for data

# (Continued)

Kreulen 1993a	No long-term follow-up. No caries and fracture reporting
Kreulen 1993b	The intervention did not correspond with aims of the review
Lambrechts 1984	Follow-up 18 months
Leinfelder 1975	Follow-up 24 months
Leinfelder 1980	As the study considered anterior and posterior restorations, it is difficult to be sure that the failures occurred in Class 1 and 2 restorations
Mair 1995	No data could be extracted
Mair 1998	No data could be extracted
Mannocci 2005	The intervention did not correspond with aims of the review
Mjör 1993a	Not an RCT. No randomization
Mjör 1993b	Not an RCT
Nell 1994	The intervention did not correspond with aims of the review
Pieper 1991	Not an RCT. Retrospective study
Powers 1974	Not an RCT. No randomization
Prati 1988	Not an RCT. No randomization
Roulet 1977	Follow-up 12 months
Roulet 1978	Same data as Roulet 1977
Rowe 1989	Not an RCT. No randomization
Rytömaa 1984	Not an RCT. No randomization
Samaha 1982	Not an RCT. No randomization
Shenker 2008	This study report data of the New England Children's Amalgam Trial. As the data of permanent and temporary dentition were not informed separately, it was not possible to extract the data of permanent posterior teeth
Smales 1991	Not an RCT. No randomization
Smales 1992	The intervention did not correspond with aims of the review
Solano 1984	These study data were unpublished (Master's dissertation) and could not be found for critical appraisal

# (Continued)

Tobi 1999	Randomized at tooth level but only partially analyzed and reported
Van Nieuwenhuysen 2003	Not an RCT. No randomization
Walls 1988	Follow-up 24 month
Welbury 1990	Randomization was broken by ignoring it in 20/150 pairs of teeth
Wilson 1996	It did not compare amalgam versus composite

RCT: randomized controlled trial.

# DATA AND ANALYSES

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Failure rate	7	5200	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.78 [1.47, 2.17]
1.1 Failure rate - parallel group studies	2	3010	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.89 [1.52, 2.35]
1.2 Failure rate - split-mouth studies	5	2190	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.42 [0.90, 2.24]
2 Secondary caries	6	4036	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	2.11 [1.66, 2.69]
2.1 Secondary caries - parallel group studies	2	3010	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	2.14 [1.67, 2.74]
2.2 Secondary caries - split- mouth studies	4	1026	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	1.50 [0.43, 5.21]
3 Fracture of restorations	2	3010	Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.87 [0.46, 1.64]

# Comparison 1. Primary and secondary outcomes

# ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Neurobehavioral assessment

## MEMORY

## Method of measurement - RAVLT memory test

	Resin composite		Amalgam			
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD
At treatment	254	8.1	3.7	254	8.36	2.91
At 7 years	176	9.73	2.79	172	9.65	2.86

## Method of measurement - WRAML visual memory (1) WMS-III reproductions delayed (2)

	Resin composite		Amalgam	Amalgam		
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD
At treatment (1)	254	6.52	3.12	253	6.56	3.04
At 7 years (2)	176	32.98	6.24	172	33.02	6.24

# Method of measurement - WRAMLS visual learning (1) WMS-III reproductions immediate (2)

## Table 1. Neurobehavioral assessment (Continued)

	Resin composite		Amalgam			
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD
At treatment (1)	254	8.14	2.75	253	7.83	2.64
At 7 years (2)	176	35.79	3.68	172	35.15	4.47

# Method of measurement - RAVLT total learning test

	Resin composite			Amalgam	Amalgam		
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD	
At treatment	254	37.95	9.61	253	39.09	9.98	
At 7 years	176	47.36	9.48	172	46.06	9.09	

# ATTENTION/CONCENTRATION

# Method of measurement - Coding (1) WAIS-III digit symbol (2)

	Resin composite		Amalgam			
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD
At treatment (1)	254	8.64	3.14	253	9.04	3.14
At 7 years (2)	176	9.45	2.98	172	9.45	2.86

# Method of measurement - Symbol search (1) WAIS-III symbol search (2)

	Resin composite		Amalgam			
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD
At treatment (1)	254	9.41	2.59	253	9.39	2.69
At 7 years (2)	176	9.40	2.85	172	9.77	3.08

# Method of measurement - Digit span (1) WAIS-III digit span (2)

	Resin composite			Amalgam	Amalgam		
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD	
At treatment (1)	254	7.37	2.53	253	7.4	2.73	

At 7 years (2)	176	7.64	2.17	172	7.70	2.21			
Method of meas	urement - Finger v	vindows (	1) WAIS	-III spatial s	span (2)				
	Resin composite			Amalgam	Amalgam				
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD			
At treatment (1)	254	7.28	2.47	253	7.32	2.35			
At 7 years (2)	176	9.03	2.96	172	9.34	2.99			
Method of meas	urement - Trial A,	seconds (	1) Adult	Trial A, sec	onds (2)				
	Resin composite			Amalgam					
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD			
At treatment (1)	254	27.69	13.05	253	27.95	12.74			
At 7 years (2)	176	28.94	12.06	172	28.72	11.26			
Method of meas	urement - Trial B,	seconds (	1) Adult	Trial B, sec	onds (2)				
	Resin composite			Amalgam	Amalgam				
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD			
At treatment (1)	254	65.1	35.61	253	42.18	6.56			
At 7 years (2)	176	63.84	25.5	172	65.34	25.07			
Method of meas	urement - Stroop v	word							
	Resin composite			Amalgam					
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD			
At treatment	254	41.54	6.39	253	42.18	6.56			
At 7 years	176	41.7	8.09	172	41.41	8.04			
Method of meas	urement - Stroop o	color							
	Resin composite			Amalgam					
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD			

## Table 1. Neurobehavioral assessment (Continued)

At treatment	254	43.03	5.62	253	44.15	6.01
At 7 years	176	41.59	8.16	172	42.67	8.14

Method of measurement - Stroop color-word

	Resin composite		Amalgam			
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD
At treatment	254	43.3	6.84	253	44.17	6.93
At 7 years	176	46.99	9.71	172	48.42	9.41

VISUOMOTOR

## Method of measurement - WRAVMA matching (1) WASI matrices (2)

	Resin composite			Amalgam		
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD
At treatment (1)	254	96.19	12.4	253	95.57	13.72
At 7 years (2)	176	24.44	5.33	172	24.83	5.02

# Method of measurement - WRAVMA pegs (dominant)

	Resin composite			Amalgam			
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD	
At treatment	254	103.04	16.68	253	101.94	16.87	
At 7 years	176	119.38	15.83	172	119.01	15.55	

# Method of measurement - WRAVMA pegs (non-dominant)

	Resin composite			Amalgam		
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD
At treatment	254	106.81	15.03	253	106.18	14.64
At 7 years	176	119.38	15.83	172	119.01	15.55

Method of measurement - Standard reaction time

## Table 1. Neurobehavioral assessment (Continued)

	Resin composite			Amalgam		
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD
At treatment	254	0.9	0.2	253	0.9	0.2
At 7 years	176	0.76	0.14	172	0.77	0.15

## Method of measurement - Finger tapping (dominant)

	Resin composite			Amalgam		
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD
At treatment	254	36.29	6.05	253	36.66	6.17
At 7 years	176	50.5	6.56	172	50.51	6.56

# Method of measurement - Finger tapping (non-dominant)

	Resin composite			Amalgam		
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD
At treatment	254	31.33	5.37	253	32.02	5.34
At 7 years	176	44.49	6.33	172	44.48	6.34

# NERVE CONDUCTION VELOCITY

## Method of measurement - Tibial, m/s

	Resin composite			Amalgam			
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD	
At treatment	254	51.58	5.58	253	51.12	5.29	
At 7 years	140	50.15	5.09	140	50.78	5.07	

## Method of measurement - Ulnar, m/s

	Resin composite			Amalgam			
	n Mean SD			n Mean SD			
At treatment	254	58.75	6.51	253	59.57	6.39	

#### Table 1. Neurobehavioral assessment (Continued)

At 7 years	140	57.58	6.52	140	59.26	6.41			
INTELLIGENCE									
Method of measurement - CTONI									
	Resin composite			Amalgam					
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD			
At treatment	254	85	10	253	85	10			
At 7 years	176	81	12	173	81	12			
Method of meas	urement - WASI								
	Resin composite			Amalgam	Amalgam				
	n	Mean	SD	n	Mean	SD			
At treatment	254	NA		253	NA				
At 7 years	176	92	13	173	94	14			

CTONI: Comprehensive Test of Non-verbal Intelligence; RAVLT: Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test; SD: standard deviation; WRAVMA: Wide Range Assessment of Visual Motor Abilities; WAIS-III: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale - Third Edition; WRAML: Wide Range Assessment of Memory and Learning; WASI: Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence; WMS-III: Wechsler Memory Scale - Third Edition.

## Table 2. Kidney function

Secondary outcome - kidney function									
Creatinine-adjusted urinary albumin levels									
Composite Amalgam									
	Mean	95% CI	Mean	95% CI					
Year 1	7.4	4.2 to 12.5	7.7	3.1 to 11.5					
Year 2	9.4	5.3 to 16.1	8.6	5.5 to 13.4					
Year 3	9.9	6.8 to 16.7	9.0	5.5 to 17.9					
Year 4	9.25	5.8 to 20.8	8.7	5.6 to 14.5					

# Table 2. Kidney function (Continued)

Year 5	8.2	5.1 to 14.3	8.0	5.4 to 12.5
Year 6	7.5	4.8 to 14.3	7.3	4.8 to 14.0
Year 7	6.8	4.4 to 13.7	6.5	4.3 to 12.3

CI: confidence interval.

# Table 3. Psychosocial function

	Composite (permanent/poste- rior occlusal SY <sup>a</sup> )		Amalgam (permanent/ occlusal SY <sup>a</sup> )	posterior	Composite versus amalgam
	10-SY (SE $b$ )	P value	10-SY (SE $^b$ )	P value	P value
BASC-SR <sup>c</sup> T-Score, adjusted mean					
Emotional symptoms index	1.7 (0.5)	0.002	-0.5 (0.7)	0.49	Not reported
Clinical maladjust- ment	1.4 (0.6)	0.02	-0.4 (0.8)	0.58	Not reported
School maladjustment	0.5 (0.7)	0.42	0.5 (0.8)	0.56	Not reported
Personal adjustment	-2.2 (0.5)	< 0.0001	0.7 (0.7)	0.35	Not reported
Anxiety	1.3 (0.6)	0.03	-1.2 (0.8)	0.13	Not reported
Depression	1.0 (0.5)	0.05	0.5 (0.7)	0.49	Not reported
Attitude to school	0.8 (0.7)	0.24	0.4 (0.9)	0.67	Not reported
Interpersonal rela- tions	-1.5 (0.5)	0.001	0.7 (0.6)	0.25 <sup>e</sup>	Not reported
CBCL <sup>d</sup> Change Score, ad- justed mean					
Competence	-0.5 (0.7)	0.47	-0.3 (0.9)	0.74	Not reported
Total problem be- haviors	0.1 (0.7)	0.93	-1.4 (1.0)	0.15	Not reported

Table 3.	Psychosocial function	(Continued)
----------	-----------------------	-------------

Internalizing prob- lems	0.7 (0.8)	0.37	-1.6 (1.0)	0.11	Not reported
Externalizing prob- lems	-0.4 (0.7)	0.53	-0.9 (0.9)	0.34	Not reported
Attention problems	-0.1 (0.4)	0.75	-0.6 (0.5)	0.27	Not reported
Withdrawn	0.6 (0.4)	0.15	-0.5 (0.5)	0.33	Not reported
Anxious/depressed	0.8 (0.4)	0.07	-1.1 (0.5)	0.03	Not reported
Delinquent behav- iors	0.7 (0.5)	0.16	-1.4 (0.6)	0.02	Not reported
Aggression	0.02 (0.4)	0.95	-0.05 (0.5)	0.3	Not reported

<sup>*a*</sup> SY: surface-years; <sup>*b*</sup>SE: standard error; <sup>*c*</sup>BASC-SR: Behavior Assessment for Children Self Report; <sup>*d*</sup>CBCL: Child Behavior Checklist parent report; <sup>*e*</sup>The BASC-SR scores reported in the table above reflect the scores of children aged 6-10 years. However, the BASC-SR was developed for children  $\geq$  8 years. Change in BASC-SR was, therefore, assessed among children aged  $\geq$  8 years as a subgroup. The results were similar to those for children aged 6-10 years except in the amalgam arm, where there was an association with interpersonal relations in children aged  $\geq$  8 years (P value = 0.03).

	Composite	Amalgam	Composite versus amalgam	
	5-year change (SE)	5-year change (SE)	β ( <b>SE</b> )	P value
Growth outcome in girls				
Body fat percentage	8.8 (0.7)	7.7 (0.8)	0.05 (0.83)	0.95
BMI-for-age z-score	0.36 (0.06)	0.21 (0.07)	0.08 (0.12)	0.49
Height	30.7 (0.5)	31.2 (0.5)	0.77 (1.18)	0.51
Growth outcome in boys				
Body fat percentage	4.9 (0.9)	5.7 (0.9)	0.57 (0.82)	0.49
BMI-for-age z-score	0.13 (0.08)	0.25 (0.07)	-0.21 (0.23)	0.36
Height	34.4 (0.6)	33.5 (0.6)	0.48 (0.83)	0.56

## Table 4. Physical development

BMI: body mass index; SE: standard error.

# WHAT'S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 22 October 2013.

Date	Event	Description
21 May 2014	Amended	Conclusions edited to reflect received feedback.

# CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Conceiving the review: María Graciela Rasines Alcaraz (GR), Patrick Roger Schmidlin (PRS).

Co-ordinating the review: GR.

Developing search strategy: Dell Davis (DD).

Handsearching of relevant journals: GR.

Retrieve from literature's references list: GR.

Contacting authors: GR.

Obtaining and screening data on unpublished studies: Analia Veitz-Keenan (AVK), Philipp Sahrmann (PS), PRS, GR.

Screening search results: AVK, GR.

Screening retrieved papers against inclusion criteria: PS, PRS.

Appraising quality of papers: AVK, PS, PRS, GR.

Extracting data from papers: AVK, PS, PRS, GR.

Entering data into RevMan: GR.

Analyses of data: GR.

Interpretation of data: AVK, PS, PRS, GR.

Writing the review: AVK, PS, PRS, GR.

Revised the review: Zipporah Iheozor-Ejiofor (ZIE).

# DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

M Graciela Rasines Alcaraz, Analia Veitz-Keenan, Philipp Sahrmann, Patrick Roger Schmidlin, Dell Davis, Zipporah Iheozor-Ejiofor: no interests to declare.

# SOURCES OF SUPPORT

## Internal sources

• No sources of support supplied

## **External sources**

• Cochrane Oral Health Group Global Alliance, UK.

All reviews in the Cochrane Oral Health Group are supported by Global Alliance member organisations (British Association of Oral Surgeons, UK; British Association for the Study of Community Dentistry, UK; British Orthodontic Society, UK; British Society of Paediatric Dentistry, UK; British Society of Periodontology, UK; Canadian Dental Hygienists Association, Canada; Mayo Clinic, USA; National Center for Dental Hygiene Research & Practice, USA; New York University College of Dentistry, USA; and Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh, UK) providing funding for the editorial process (http://ohg.cochrane.org/).

• National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), UK.

CRG funding acknowledgement:

The NIHR is the largest single funder of the Cochrane Oral Health Group.

Disclaimer:

The views and opinions expressed therein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NIHR, NHS or the Department of Health.

# DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

The participant inclusion criterion in the protocol was originally restricted to adults and adolescents. Tooth type (permanent posterior teeth) was considered more important as a criterion than age group, therefore, studies on children were included. Only data on permanent posterior teeth were reported in this review.

Participant satisfaction could not be analyzed as none of the randomized controlled trials had data about this variable.

Cost-effectiveness could not be calculated because of partial reporting.

In the protocol, survival rate was listed as the primary outcome but the review lists failure rate as primary outcome. Failure rate is reported in this review as a proxy for survival rate.

We aimed to minimize potential reporting biases including publication bias, time lag bias, multiple (duplicate) publication bias, and language bias by constructing a funnel plot. However, we were unable to achieve this since we had fewer than 10 studies.

Only dichotomous data were available.

The review used random-effects models unless there were fewer than four studies, when fixed-effect models were used, as this is general policy for the Cochrane Oral Health Group. The protocol stated random-effects models only.

# INDEX TERMS

# Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

\*Dentition, Permanent; Acrylic Resins [adverse effects; \*therapeutic use]; Composite Resins [adverse effects; \*therapeutic use]; Dental Amalgam [adverse effects; \*therapeutic use]; Dental Caries [\*therapy]; Dental Restoration Failure; Dental Restoration, Permanent [adverse effects; \*methods]; Molar; Polyurethanes [adverse effects; \*therapeutic use]; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic

# MeSH check words

Child; Humans